RECEIVED

12-04-2015

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT STATE OF WISCONSIN **OF WISCONSIN**

IN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Case No. 2015AP000157-CR v.

ERIC L. LOOMIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Certification from the Court of Appeals of an Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction and from an Order Denying Post-Conviction Relief Entered in the Circuit Court for La Crosse County, The Honorable Scott L. Horne, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Community Justice, Inc. Attorney Michael D. Rosenberg State Bar #1001450 Attorney for Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

(1) Does a defendant's right to due process prohibit courts from relying on COMPAS risk assessments when imposing a sentence, because COMPAS assessments take gender into account?

The Court of Appeals certified this question to this Court. The trial court did not directly answer this question.

(2) Does a defendant's right to due process prohibit courts from relying on COMPAS risk assessments when imposing a sentence, because the proprietary nature of COMPAS prevents a defendant from challenging the scientific validity?

The Court of Appeals certified this question to this Court. The trial court did not directly answer this question.

(3) Does the use of the COMPAS assessment at sentencing violate a defendant's due process rights by not being an individualized sentence and by relying on inaccurate information?

Neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals answered this question.

(4) Did the trial court rely on the COMPAS risk assessment in sentencing the defendant?

The trial court answered no. The Court of Appeals found that the State abandoned the argument on appeal and regardless that the trial court did indeed rely on the COMPAS assessment.

(5) Should this Court overrule or modify the Court of Appeal's decision in *State v. Samsa*, 2015 WI App 6, 359 Wis. 2d 580, 859 N.W.2d 149?

This issue was not before the trial court. The Court of Appeals raised the issue in its Certification.

(6) Did the trial court improperly give undue weight to the dismissed but read-in charges in sentencing the defendant?

The trial court answered no. The Court of Appeals did not address this issue.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Pursuant to this Court's general practice and due to the issues in this case, it is appropriate for oral argument and publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction entered in court on August 12, 2013 and filed on August 14, 2013 in La Crosse County, the Honorable Scott Horne presiding. (R.16.) An amended judgment of conviction was filed on August 15, 2013 regarding sentence credit. (R. 17.)

By a criminal complaint filed on February 13, 2013, the State charged Mr. Loomis with five counts: (1) First Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety, PTAC, as a repeater; (2) Attempting to Flee or Elude a Traffic Officer, as a repeater; (3) Operating a Motor Vehicle without Owner's Consent, PTAC, as a repeater; (4) Possession of a Firearm by a Felon, PTAC, as a repeater; and (5) Possession of Short-Barreled Shotgun or Rifle, PTAC, as a repeater. (R.4.) The State filed an information on February 26, 2013 asserting the same five charges. (R.7.)

On May 24, 2013, Mr. Eric Loomis waived his right to a trial and entered a guilty plea to Counts 2 and 3; the three other counts were "dismissed and read-in." (R.11.) After accepting Mr. Loomis' pleas, the trial court ordered a presentence investigation. (R.40:42; R.13.) On August 12, 2013, the trial court sentenced Mr. Loomis on Count 2 (attempting to flee) to four years in prison, with initial confinement of two years and extended supervision of two years. (R.41:37, A-App. 145.) On Count 3 (operating without owner's consent), the court sentenced Mr. Loomis to seven years in prison, with four years of initial confinement and three years of extended supervision, consecutive to count two. (R.41:38, 40, A-App. 146, 148.)

Mr. Loomis timely filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Post-Conviction Relief on August 19, 2013. (R.18.) The trial court heard the motion on two separate days: July 29, 2014 and January 6, 2015. (R.42 and 43.)¹ The trial court subsequently denied Mr. Loomis' post-conviction motion by written motion on January 7, 2015. (R.33; A-App. 108-09.) Mr. Loomis timely filed his notice of appeal in this case on January 16, 2015. (R.44.)

On September 17, 2015, the Court of Appeals issued a decision certifying the appeal to this Court. (A-App. 101-07.) The Court of Appeals certified two issues: (1) whether the trial court's use of COMPAS at sentencing violates a defendant's right to due process because the defendant cannot challenge the scientific validity of the assessment due to the claims of proprietary nature by the developers of COMPAS; and (2) whether the trial court's use of COMPAS at sentencing violates a defendant's right to due process because the assessments take gender into account. (A-App. 101.) The Court of Appeals also raised the issue that if due process prohibits the use of COMPAS at sentencing, should this Court overrule or modify the Court of Appeal's decision in

¹ The Court of Appeals granted motions for extension of time for the trial court to decide the post-conviction motion.

State v. Samsa, 2015 WI App 6, 359 Wis. 2d 580, 859 N.W.2d 149. (A-App. 102.) This Court accepted certification on November 4, 2015.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises out of a drive-by shooting in La Crosse on February 11, 2013 in which the State alleged that Mr. Loomis was the driver. (R.1.) From the very beginning, however, all the way through the plea and sentencing, Mr. Loomis denied that he had any involvement in the drive-by shooting and maintained only that he later drove the car after the shooting. (See, e.g., Statement of Negotiated Plea, R.11.)

Plea Hearing

At the plea hearing on May 24, 2013, the State's position was that Mr. Loomis was the driver of the car, but Mr. Loomis denied that he had any involvement in the drive by shooting. The trial court summed up the positions of the two parties: "So I understand from the plea agreement that you're denying that you had any role in the shooting, that you only drove the car after the shooting occurred. The State believes that you were the driver of the car when the shooting happened." (R.40:3-4; A-App.116-17.)

The Defense position was that Mr. Loomis only later drove the car after the shooting. Mr. Loomis told the PSI author that the alleged shooter, Michael Vang, had come by his apartment earlier that evening and they went to Wal-Mart for food. Upon returning home, Mr. Loomis heated up his food, but Mr. Vang then left and came back about fifteen minutes later. (R.14:4.) Mr. Vang then asked him for a ride. (R.14:4.) It was during that trip that the police attempted to stop them and they briefly fled. (R.14:4-5.) Mr. Loomis maintained this position at sentencing. (R.41: 17-19.) The Defense submitted two witness statements with his post-conviction motion that backed up his story that Michael Vang

only picked him up later after the shooting. (R.26, Exs. D and E.)

The Defense also pointed out that the neighborhoods where the shooting occurred, where Mr. Loomis lived, and where they were stopped were all close together—within a five minute drive. (R.41:19.) Indeed, Mr. Loomis' residence was between the location of the shooting and where the police first observed the car. (R. 26, Ex. C.) The Defense also raised the issue that because Michael Vang and the alleged target of the shooting were admittedly involved in methamphetamine dealing there could have been a delay between the time of the shooting and the time that the target called the police. (R.41:17.) Unlike Mr. Vang, Mr. Loomis had no connection to the target or the methamphetamine trade. (R.41:17, 20.)

In addition, as set forth in the Defense's post-conviction motion, there was no forensic evidence supporting a conclusion that Mr. Loomis had anything to do with the shooting. DNA found on the gun was compared to Mr. Loomis' DNA and Mr. Loomis was excluded. (R.26, Ex. F.) Nor was any gunpowder residue found on Mr. Loomis. (R.26, Ex. G.) The police also found a shotgun cartridge on the passenger seat (R.26, Ex. H) suggesting that the seat was empty at the time of the shooting and that Mr. Vang would have fired from the driver's seat out the passenger window. After originally denying knowledge of the gun, Mr. Vang eventually confessed to knowing that the gun was present and described the gun in the car. (R.26, Exs. J and K.)

Because of the above facts, the impact of the read-in charges led to a great deal of discussion and disagreement at the plea hearing. Whereas Mr. Loomis understood that the court may consider the read-in charges, the trial court warned that the "read-in" charges were the more serious charges and that the court would assume that Mr. Loomis was the driver of the car at the time of the shooting. (R.40:4-5; A-App. 117-18.)

The effect of this plea agreement is that I am taking into account that you were the driver of the car at the time of the shooting, that you were involved in the reckless endangerment, that you were involved in the possession of a firearm by a felon, and that you were involved as a party to the crime in the possession of a short-barreled shotgun. That's the effect of a read-in.

(R.40:5; A-App. 118.)

The Defense explained to the court that Mr. Loomis was not conceding that he was "involved" in the read-in charges. "We are relying on *State of Wisconsin v. Straszkowski* [2008 WI 65] which does hold that no admission of guilt from a defendant is required or should be deemed required for a read-in charge to be considered." (R.40:6; A-App. 119.) "[H]e's not guilty of those three [read-in charges], and that's what we're going to be explaining." (R.40:6; A-App. 119.) "The State's going to argue why you may, we're going to argue why you should not." (R.40:14; A-App. 127.) In sum, the Defense regarded the "read-in" designation as permissive, not proscriptive.

The State likewise believed that the "read-in" charges would be the subject of debate at sentencing.

The State will give you our version of, you know, what we think the evidence shows and what happened that night. And that's why it's being read in, it allows us to tell you what we think happened, our theory of the case, at sentencing. ... And Mr. Loomis I think is aware of that, that we will be saying those things at sentencing, and if you accept those, you would obviously sentence him accordingly. But he does have the opportunity at sentencing, even though he's making this agreement, to say he

didn't do it, he wasn't part of that, he's got a different version. If you listen to that and consider that, you may not sentence him as you would otherwise if you believed what he was saying about that night.

(R.40:9-10; A-App. 122-23.)

Despite the agreement of the parties that the "read-in" charges would be debated at sentencing, the trial court persisted in regarding the "read-ins" as stipulated facts for the purposes of sentencing. The court felt that if the charges were read-in that meant Mr. Loomis at least was involved as a conspirator or party to the crime. (R.40:7-8; A-App. 120-21.) "But he, he needs to understand that if these shooting related charges are being read in that I'm going to view that as a serious, aggravating factor at sentencing." (R.40:10; A-App. 123.)

The court placed a great deal of weight on a distinction between charges "read-in" and those "dismissed outright."

In other words, if it's dismissed outright, then I don't consider those charges at all at sentencing. But if it's read in, then I'm accepting the notion that there was some involvement on his part, not necessarily as the shooter, but at least there was some involvement on his part that warrants consideration at sentencing.

. . . .

So I'm understanding, Mr. Loomis, that you had some connection to the shooting, even if it's a limited connection, that at least it was sufficient to justify the allegation that you were party to the crime. In other words, that you weren't an innocent bystander, that you weren't someone who was simply present with no

understanding or intent that the crime be committed. That's what I'm understanding from the effect of your agreement on your part that these charges can be read in.

(R.40:10-11; A-App. 123-24.)

The court distinguished a "read-in" offense from one that is "dismissed outright" on the basis that the former would be considered as admitted for the purposes of sentencing, whereas the latter would not be considered at all.

[I]f a charge is dismissed outright, I do not consider it in any way, shape or form.

. . . .

To my mind the fact that you're allowing this to be read in would tip the scale at sentencing, and it's extremely unlikely that I would treat the shooting related charges as if they were dismissed outright, okay? I mean, in essence, the position you are taking today is that they ought to be dismissed outright. ... [Y]ou're asking that I not take them into account at all at sentencing because you weren't involved.

And what I'm saying to you is that at a sentencing hearing I would not be treating these shooting related charges as if they were being dismissed outright.

(R.40:15-16; A-App. 128-29.)

Presentence Investigation Report

The DOC agent prepared a presentence investigation report ("PSI") dated July 23, 2013. (R.14.) Like many PSIs

currently, it included an attached COMPAS assessment. (R.14:14.) COMPAS stands for "Correctional Offender Management Profiling for Alternative Sanctions." (R.28:1.) "It is a fourth-generation (4G) risk-need assessment system" that according to its creators "provides decision support for correctional agencies for placement decisions, offender management, and treatment planning." (R.28:1.) According to DOC and the PSI it should not be used either to determine if a specific defendant should be sentenced to prison or the severity of the sentence:

The COMPAS is an actuarial assessment tool which has been validated on a national norming This means that it predicts the population. general likelihood that those with a similar history of offending are either less likely or more likely to commit another crime generally within the two year period following release from custody. The COMPAS assessment does not, however, attempt to predict specifically the likelihood that an offender will commit a certain type of offense with the same two year period. For that prediction, a narrow-band screener which is normed specifically for that offender population (i.e. use of screener such as the STATIC-99, VASOR, etc. for sex offenders) should be used.

In addition to identifying general levels of risk re-offend, **COMPAS** identifies also criminogenic needs specific to that offender which are most likely to effect [sic] future criminal behavior. For purposes of Evidence Base Sentencing, actuarial assessment tools are especially relevant to: 1. Identifying offenders who should be targeted for interventions. 2. Identify dynamic risk factors to target with conditions of supervision. 3. It is verv important to remember that risk scores are not intended to determine the severity of the sentence or whether an offender is incarcerated.

(R.14:14.)(emphasis added)

The Sentencing Hearing

At the sentencing hearing on August 12, 2013, both the State and the trial court referenced the COMPAS assessment and used it as a basis for incarcerating Mr. Loomis.

The State argued that the COMPAS report and its assessments served as the basis for the appropriate sentence:

In addition, the COMPAS report that was completed in this case does show the high risk and the high needs of the defendant. There's a high risk of violence, high risk of recidivism, high pre-trial risk; and so all of these are factors in determining an appropriate sentence.

(R.41:14.)

The trial court also used the COMPAS report to justify incarceration:

You're identified, through the COMPAS assessment, as an individual who is at high risk to the community.

In terms of weighing the various factors, I'm ruling out probation because of the seriousness of the crime and because your history, your history on supervision, and the risk assessment tools that have been utilized, suggest that your [sic] extremely high risk to reoffend.

(R.41:35; A-App. 143.) Earlier in the hearing, the trial court also referred to the PSI writer's use of the assessment tools. (R.41:30; A-App. 138.)

Regarding the effect of the read-in charges, the State argued extensively that Mr. Loomis was the driver in the drive-by shooting. (R.41:12-15.) The Defense reiterated Mr. Loomis' position that he was uninvolved in the shooting, and only entered the car later:

The night of this incident Mr. Loomis did drive around in this vehicle that was some-body else's with Mr. Vang and C.B². They went to a Wal-mart, they got food, they came back. Mr. Vang left and then returned later to ask Eric to drive with him to the Schuh Homes, and in route is when they got pulled over. Mr. Loomis has maintained that this is what happened.

(R.41:17.)

The trial court, however, concluded that Mr. Loomis was involved in the drive-by shooting:

In terms of your demeanor, acceptance of responsibility, remorse, I don't believe you've taken responsibility for your role here. I mean, basically, you're asking The Court to accept the notion that you weren't even present at the time of the shooting, you didn't know anything about it at the time or beforehand. You didn't know anything about any guns.

(41:32; A-App. 140.)

² Pursuant to rule, names of other individuals cited are being cited by first and/or last initial to preserve confidentiality other than Mr. Loomis and Mr. Vang (the co-defendant).

In assessing the facts of the shooting, the court again referenced the fact that the shooting related charges were "read-in:"

The plea agreement calls for the shooting charges to be read in. Now, what that means to me, and I'm accepting the descriptions of events that I've been given where a description of your role; and that is to say that, you were not the person who was the shooter.

(R.41:32-33; A-App. 140-41.) The court, however, again referred to the counts that were dismissed but read-in as meaning that Mr. Loomis was involved in the shooting:

...and given the fact that the shooting related charges are being read in, I am sentencing you on the basis that you were at least in the vehicle at the time of the shooting, that you had associated yourself with Mr. Vang; that you knew full well at the time that the shooting was taking place; and that, frankly, as a result of your associations, rather than being home with Miss McS., you're associating with this individual who is armed with guns and involved heavily in the drug trade.

(R.41:34; A-App. 142.)

The trial court ultimately sentenced Mr. Loomis on Count 2 (fleeing) to four years with two years of initial confinement and two years of extended supervision. (R.41:37; A-App. 145.) On Count 3 (operating without the owner's consent), the court sentenced Mr. Loomis to four years of initial confinement and three and a half years of extended supervision. (R.41:38; A-App. 146.) The sentences are consecutive. (R.41:40; A-App. 148.) In total, the court sentenced Mr. Loomis in this case to six years of initial

confinement and five years of extended supervision for fleeing and operating a vehicle without the owner's consent.

Post-Conviction Motion

On June 9, 2014, Mr. Loomis, by his counsel, filed a motion for post-conviction relief pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.30 in this matter for a resentencing hearing on two grounds³: (1) that the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion in how it considered the read-in charges by declining to consider Mr. Loomis' explanation; and (2) Mr. Loomis' due process rights were violated by the court relying on the COMPAS assessment in sentencing Mr. Loomis.

The trial court held two hearings on the post-conviction motion. At the first hearing on July 29, 2014, the court mainly addressed the read-in charge issue and orally denied that issue. (R.42:21; A-App. 165.) Although there was some initial discussion about the COMPAS issue and the defense introduced exhibits, the State sought additional time to respond and the court set a further hearing to take testimony and evidence. (R.42:22, 35-36.)

The second hearing was on January 6, 2015. (R.43; A-App. 166-223.) At this hearing, the Defense offered the testimony of an expert witness on COMPAS, Dr. David Thompson. (R.43:5; A-App. 170.) Dr. Thompson has a Ph.D. from DePaul University in Psychology and Clinical Psychology. (R.43:5; A-App. 170.) He is Board Certified in

³ There was a third ground in the post-conviction motion, but that aspect concerned only Case No. 12CF75 that is not at issue on appeal. (R.26:1.) The Defense alleged that the trial court erred in sentencing Mr. Loomis on inaccurate information concerning the sale of prescription pills, because the court mistakenly stated that Mr. Loomis' actions led to the death of a person. (Id.) The State conceded that the court relied on inaccurate information in sentencing Mr. Loomis, agreed to a joint recommendation to modify the sentence, and the court modified the sentence as agreed. (R.42:3-5.)

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