RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

05-12-2015

COURTOFAPPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2015AP157-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ERIC L. LOOMIS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION
RELIEF AND A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE
LA CROSSE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE
SCOTT L. HORNE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

CHRISTINE A. REMINGTON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1046171

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court did not rely on inaccurate information when sentencing Loomis.

A. Standard of review.

Whether a defendant has been denied this due process right is a constitutional issue that a reviewing court decides independently from the circuit court. *State v. Travis*, 2013 WI 38, \P 20, 347 Wis. 2d 142, 832 N.W.2d 491.

B. Legal principles.

"A defendant has three due process rights at sentencing: (1) to be present at the hearing and to be afforded the right to allocution, (2) to be represented by counsel, and (3) to be sentenced on the basis of true and correct information." *State v. Borrell*, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 772, 482 N.W.2d 883 (1992).

A sentence based "upon materially untrue information, whether caused by carelessness or design, is inconsistent with due process of law and cannot stand." *Travis*, 347 Wis. 2d 142, ¶ 17. A defendant who moves for resentencing based on the circuit court's use of inaccurate information at the sentencing hearing must show both that: (1) the information was inaccurate and (2) the court actually relied on the inaccurate information in the sentencing. *Id.* ¶ 21 (citing *State v. Tiepelman*, 2006 WI 66, ¶ 26, 291 Wis. 2d 179, 717 N.W.2d 1). If a defendant can meet both requirements, then the burden shifts to the State to prove that the error was harmless. *Id.* ¶ 23.

C. The COMPAS risk assessment tool provides the circuit court with relevant information.

COMPAS is a risk assessment tool available to circuit courts at sentencing. *State v. Samsa*, 2015 WI App 6, ¶ 13, 359 Wis. 2d 580, 859 N.W.2d 149. Actuarial tools, like COMPAS, are proven by the most rigorous research to work to significantly reduce offender recidivism. Warren, Roger K., *Evidence-Based Sentencing: The*

Application of Principles of Evidence-Based Practice to State Sentencing Practice and Policy, 43 U.S.F. L. Rev. 585, 586 (Winter 2009). This type of research came in response to a change in sentencing policies in the 1970s from "offender-based" sentencing to "offense-based" sentencing. *Id.* at 588-89. The new sentencing policies led to longer sentences and unprecedented rates of recidivism. *Id.* at 589-91. The research looked to solve the problem of recidivism. *Id.* at 596.

The research showed that effective treatment programs are ones that are "specifically targeted to address the identified needs of a certain group of offenders in certain ways." Warren, 43 U.S.F. L. Rev. at 598. The first task in applying the principles of evidence based practice to a sentencing decision is to determine "whether the defendant is a suitable candidate for a rehabilitation or treatment program." Id. at 599. For example, high-risk offenders need to be separated from "extremely high-risk or highest-risk offenders who are deeply enmeshed in a criminal subculture" because these offenders not responsive to traditional correctional programming. *Id.* at 600.

Actuarial tools are far better predictors of risk than professional judgment, but the most accurate assessment is using an actuarial tool and professional judgment. Warren, 43 U.S.F. L. Rev. at 603. COMPAS is a tool to help circuit courts make bail, sentencing, and postconviction decisions based on what research shows to be the most effective in reducing recidivism.

COMPAS is a computerized tool designed to assess offenders' needs and risk of recidivism and is used by criminal justice agencies across the nation to inform decisions regarding the placement, supervision and case management of offenders. Developed and focused on predictors known to affect recidivism, this tool includes dynamic risk factors in its prediction of recidivism and provides information on a variety of well-validated risks and need factors designed to aid in correctional treatment to decrease the likelihood that offenders will re-offend.

See Northpointe Inc., Northpointe Software Suite, (March 21, 2013), http://www.northpointeinc.com/products/northpointe-software-

suite (accessed by searching for the above address in the Internet Archive index).

COMPAS is composed of 22 different scales that empirical research has identified as predictive of future behavior. The 22 scales are grouped into five main categories: criminal involvement, relationships/lifestyles, personality/attitudes, family, and social exclusion. COMPAS assesses three categories of risk: recidivism, violence, and failure to appear at a court hearing.

Karen Mann, et. al, *Broward County's Jail Population Management*, American Jails, Jan/Feb 2012 at 17.⁴

D. Loomis fails to prove that the court relied upon inaccurate information.

Loomis fails to identify what information he believes that the circuit court relied upon in sentencing him. He says COMPAS is an "inaccurate and inappropriate" factor at sentencing. Loomis's brief at 17. Those words are not interchangeable. The State will address the appropriateness of COMPAS in section III of this brief.

Loomis does not point to any particular part of the COMPAS evaluation that is inaccurate. Instead, he argues that because it is not an individualized assessment but rather a comparison to a class of offenders, it may overestimate his risk to re-offend. Loomis's brief at 18. He believes that "it assumes that a specific defendant is a high risk based on comparison with others in the group as determined by COMPAS." Loomis's brief at 20.

The defendant has the opportunity to challenge its accuracy at the outset of a sentencing hearing. Loomis did not dispute the

⁴*Available at* http://www.northpointeinc.com/files/publications/Broward_County_Article.pdf.

accuracy of the PSI or the COMPAS assessment except to tell the court he had a job at sentencing (41:5, A-Ap. 137).⁵

He does not assert he is a low-risk to re-offend or argue against any specific conclusion in his COMPAS assessment. At best, Loomis's argument is that the COMPAS was potentially inaccurate. The court can reach its own reasonable inferences based on the information presented at sentencing. *State v. Gallion*, 2004 WI 42, ¶ 19, 270 Wis. 2d 535, 678 N.W.2d 197. The circuit court got relevant information from the COMPAS report about Loomis's future dangerousness. The circuit court drew its own conclusions based on that information.

Since Loomis does not point to specific inaccurate information, he cannot meet his burden to prove that the circuit court actually relied upon inaccurate information at sentencing. *See Tiepelman*, 291 Wis. 2d 179, ¶ 26. The circuit court did not rely on inaccurate information when sentencing Loomis.

II. Loomis fails to meet his burden to prove that the circuit court relied on his gender at sentencing.

A defendant has a due process right not to be sentenced on the basis of gender. *State v. Harris*, 2010 WI 79, \P 33, 326 Wis. 2d 685, 786 N.W.2d 409. The burden to prove that the circuit court actually relied upon gender falls on the defendant. *Id*.

Loomis asserts that the court violated his due process rights by sentencing him based on his gender. Loomis's brief at 21. Loomis fails to point to anything in the sentencing transcript that relates to his gender. He instead places his argument completely on the fact that the developers of COMPAS have gender-specific risk assessments. *Id.* He asserts without support that because he's a man his risk is higher. *Id.* He fails to meet his burden.

⁵Neither the PSI report nor the COMPAS evaluation is contained in the appellate record. Record number 14 is labeled as the PSI, but only contains the alternative PSI (14).

The circuit court never considered the fact that Loomis was a man in its sentencing decision. COMPAS does not ask for the gender of the offender. Instead, COMPAS has a different automated risk and needs assessment specifically for women offenders. *See* Northpointe Institute for Public Management, Inc., *COMPAS Risk & Need Assessment System: Selected Questions Posed by Inquiring Agencies*, 3 (Jan. 14, 2010).⁶

Simply having two different risk scales does not mean that the COMPAS assessment improperly considers gender. Loomis does not explain how the two different assessments work. The circuit court did not rely solely on the COMPAS assessment at sentencing. The circuit court did not violate Loomis's due process rights at sentencing. Loomis fails to meet his burden.

III. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion in sentencing Loomis.

A. Standard of review.

A circuit court properly exercises its discretion if, by reference to the relevant facts and factors, it explains how the sentence's component parts promote the sentencing objectives. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 46. There is a strong public policy against interference with the sentencing discretion of the circuit court, and sentences are afforded the presumption that the circuit court acted reasonably. *Id.* ¶ 18; *McCleary v. State*, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 281, 182 N.W.2d 512 (1971).

A court erroneously exercises its discretion when it "imposes its sentence *based on* or in *actual reliance upon* clearly irrelevant or improper factors." *Harris*, 326 Wis. 2d 685, ¶ 30.

B. Legal principles.

The objectives of the sentence, including, but not limited to, the protection of the public, punishment, rehabilitation, and

⁶Available at http://www.northpointeinc.com/files/technical_documents/Selected_Compas_Questions_Posed_by_Inquiring_Agencies.pdf.

deterrence should be articulated on the record. *Gallion*, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 40. Which objectives should be given greatest weight is up to the circuit court to identify in each case. *Id.* ¶ 41. Courts must also describe, on the record, the facts relevant to the objectives. *Id.* ¶ 42.

The circuit court shall impose the minimum sentence consistent with the gravity of the offense, the rehabilitative needs of the offender, and the need for protection of the public. *Id.* ¶ 44. The factors that a circuit court can consider in sentencing include: past record of criminal offenses; history of undesirable behavior patterns; the defendant's personality, character and social traits; results of presentence investigation; vicious or aggravated nature of the crime; degree of defendant's culpability; defendant's demeanor at trial; defendant's age, educational background and employment record; defendant's remorse, repentance and cooperativeness; defendant's need for close rehabilitative control; the rights of the public; and the length of pretrial detention. State v. Harris, 119 Wis. 2d 612, 623-24, 350 N.W.2d 633 (1984); see also Gallion, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 43 n.11. "An improper sentencing factor is a factor that is totally irrelevant or immaterial to the type of decision to be made." Samsa, 359 Wis. 2d 580, ¶ 8.

C. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion at sentencing and did not rely on an improper factor.

Loomis asks for resentencing. Loomis's brief at 27. But Loomis actually seeks a modification of a sentence imposed by an erroneous exercise of discretion; resentencing is only available if the initial sentence is vacated because it was illegally imposed. *See State v. Stenzel*, 2004 WI App 181, ¶ 5 n.2, 276 Wis. 2d 224, 688 N.W.2d 20 (citing *State v. Carter*, 208 Wis. 2d 142, 146-47, 560 N.W.2d 256 (1997)). The State addresses his claim as a challenge to the circuit court's sentencing discretion.

1. The circuit court properly considered COMPAS as one of many relevant factors at sentencing.

Loomis argues that the circuit court should not have relied on the COMPAS assessment at sentencing. Loomis's brief at 16-24. The circuit court did not erroneously exercise its discretion. It considered relevant sentencing factors and sentenced Loomis within the maximum allowable penalties. The information from COMPAS is one such relevant sentencing factor. Accordingly, this court should affirm Loomis's sentence.

Courts can use the COMPAS assessment in sentencing. *Samsa*, 359 Wis. 2d 580, ¶ 13. For courts to exclude the use of the COMPAS assessment at sentencing would be to treat it different than other relevant evidence.

The COMPAS evaluation places the defendant in a category of offenders, but is still individualized to each defendant. The COMPAS assessment asks many questions. It then creates a risk assessment assessing overall risk in three areas and criminogenic needs in 22 areas. Mann, *supra*, at 17. It is possible that two offenders might answer all questions the same, but it is unlikely.

It is an actuarial scale that uses other offenders' behavior to assess the specific offender's risk. Actuarial scales are admissible at trial when rules of evidence apply. *See State v. Smalley*, 2007 WI App 219, ¶ 20, 305 Wis. 2d 709, 741 N.W.2d 286; *State v. Straszkowski*, 2008 WI 65, ¶ 52, 310 Wis. 2d 259, 750 N.W.2d 835. At sentencing, there is no need for information to be established beyond a reasonable doubt. *See State v. Arredondo*, 2004 WI App 7, ¶ 54, 269 Wis. 2d 369, 674 N.W.2d 647. And there is no burden of proof. *State v. Hubert*, 181 Wis. 2d 333, 345, 510 N.W.2d 799 (Ct. App. 1993). Even though COMPAS is an actuarial tool, it can be considered as a factor at sentencing.

Loomis states that the COMPAS assessment warns courts not to use it to decide a sentence. Loomis's brief at 18. Loomis's COMPAS evaluation states, "risk scores are not intended to determine the severity of the sentence or whether the defendant is incarcerated" (43:25, A-Ap. 238). This is the same disclaimer in all COMPAS evaluations. *See Samsa*, 359 Wis. 2d 580, ¶ 12. Loomis reads this statement broadly and argues that the entire COMPAS assessment cannot be considered by the court at sentencing. Loomis's brief at 18. The statement should not be interpreted that broadly.

The statement explicitly addresses only the risk scores, and does not apply to any of the other parts of the COMPAS assessment. The COMPAS assessment discusses a variety of factors that are relevant to the court's sentencing decision. The assessment discusses areas where the defendant will need to improve to lessen his risk for re-offense. That discussion is important information that the court can and should consider at sentencing. Much of this information is already available to the court in the rest of the PSI. The qualifying sentence does not apply to any part of the COMPAS except the risk scores.

The risk score should not determine the severity of the sentence or whether an offender is incarcerated. But it does not mean that his risk score cannot be considered at all by the court at sentencing. Instead, the score alone cannot be used to make those decisions. It also means that a high score should not automatically mean that an offender must be sentenced to incarceration. The statement does not preclude using the score as a factor among the many others a sentencing court considers at sentencing.

COMPAS is a decision support tool intended to help guide the decision maker in case supervision, treatment, and placement decisions. Northpointe Inst. for Public Management, Inc., COMPAS Risk & Need Assessment System: Selected Questions Posed by Inquiring Agencies, 7 (Jan. 14, 2010). The court can consider the risk scores in relation to the many other considerations at sentencing. The court decides which factors should be given the greatest weight. Gallion, 270 Wis. 2d 535, ¶ 40. It cannot decide to place a defendant in prison solely because of his score on COMPAS, but also does not need to ignore the COMPAS score completely.

COMPAS has a role at sentencing. Dr. Thompson testified that COMPAS is only for people in the community and should not be used at sentencing to decide about incarceration (43:10-11, A-Ap. 223-24). This is contrary to the DOC's statement that COMPAS is used "to determine their risk and needs and inform dynamic case

⁷Available at http://www.northpointeinc.com/files/technical_documents/Selected_Compas_Questions_Posed_by_Inquiring_Agencies.pdf.

plans that will guide the offender throughout his or her lifecycle in the criminal justice system." Wis. Dept. of Corrections, *COMPAS Assessment Tool*, http://doc.wi.gov/about/doc-overview/office-of-the-secretary/office-of-reentry/compas-assessment-tool (last visited May 4, 2015). The lifecycle flow chart indicates that DOC intends to use the COMPAS assessment from arrest to discharge. Wis. Dept. of Corrections, *Offender Lifecycle*, http://doc.wi.gov/Documents/WEB/ABOUT/OVERVIEW/Reentry%20Unit/offenderlifecycle.pdf (last visited May 4, 2015).

COMPAS provides individualized relevant information. The COMPAS assessment is one of many factors a court can consider at sentencing. The circuit court considered all the relevant sentencing factors and drew a reasonable conclusion based on those factors.

2. The circuit court properly exercised its discretion when it concluded that Loomis drove a car while his friend shot out of the car window.

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